FILED October 8, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 72965-9-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,
V.
THOMAS LEE OLSON,
Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY
The Honorable Laura Gene Middaugh, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JENNIFER L. DOBSON DANA M. NELSON Attorneys for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Appellant's right to due process was violated due to the government's destruction of 911 recordings.
- 2. The trial court erred in not dismissing the charges under CrR 8.3(b) due to government mismanagement.
- 3. RCW 43.43.7541's DNA-collection fee and RCW 7.68.035's Victims Penalty Assessment (VPA) violate substantive due process when applied to defendants who do not have the ability or likely future ability to pay.
- 4. The trial court failed to comply with RCW 10.01.130(3) and, thus, erred in imposing Legal Financial Obligations (LFOs).

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Defense counsel made a discovery request for 911 recordings just two weeks after the incident forming the basis of the charges, because the recordings were potentially useful to the defense. Police contract with a company that has an express and clearly stated policy of purging all 911 recordings after 90 days unless they are affirmatively preserved by law enforcement. The State never took steps to preserve the requested recordings, and they was destroyed under this policy. Was appellant's right to due

process violated?

- 2. The prosecutor mismanaged the discovery process, which resulted in the destruction of 911 recordings that were material to appellant's defense. This resulted in appellant's inability to present a complete defense. Did the trial court err in denying appellant's motion to dismiss under 8.3(b)?
- 3. RCW 43.43.7541 requires trial courts impose a DNA-collection fee each time a felony offender is sentenced.¹ This ostensibly serves the State's interest in funding the collection, testing, and retention of a convicted defendant's DNA profile. RCW 7.68.035 requires trial courts to impose a VPA of \$500. The purpose is to fund victim-focused programs. These statutes mandate that trial courts order these LFOs even when the defendant has no ability to pay. Do the statutes violate substantive due process when applied to defendants who do not have the ability or the likely future ability to pay the DNA collection fee?

¹ RCW 43.43.754 and 43.43.7541 require the courts to impose a mandatory \$100 DNA-collection fee on any offender convicted of a felony or of a specifically designated misdemeanor. For clarity and ease of reading, appellant will refer only to felony defendants in this brief, but the arguments apply equally to defendants sentenced to other qualifying crimes.

4. The Supreme Court recently emphasized that, "a trial court has a statutory obligation [under RCW 10.01.160(3)] to make an individualized inquiry into a defendant's current and future ability to pay before the court imposes LFOs." State v. Blazina, 182 Wn.2d 827, 830, 344 P.3d 680 (2015). Here, the trial court was informed as to appellant's homelessness and lack of resources, but it imposed so-called "mandatory" LFOs without any consideration of his ability to pay. Should this Court remand with instructions to strike the LFOs and undertake a proper inquiry?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. <u>Procedural History</u>

On January 29, 2014, the King County prosecutor charged appellant Thomas Olson with one count of felony driving under the influence (DUI) and one count of driving with a suspended license. CP 1-7. The information was later amended, and the prosecutor added one count of possession of a controlled substance. CP 18-19. A jury found Olson guilty as charged. CP 193-96. Olson was sentenced to 41 months of incarceration and 12 months of community custody. CP 261. The trial court also imposed a \$100 DNA-collection fee and a \$500 VPA, believing these to be "mandatory" fees. CP 260. Olson appeals. CP 275-76

2. Substantive Facts

On January 22, 2014, the Bellevue Police Department (BPD) received several 911 calls regarding a traffic incident. 2RP 67. Witnesses observed a blue pick-up truck swerve across lanes while traveling down Lakemont Boulevard in Bellevue, crash into a guardrail, ricochet back across lanes, knock down a lamp post, and eventually come to a stop at the bottom of the hill. 5RP 8-9, 42-43, 66.

When police arrived, one officer saw Olson in the driver seat of the parked car with the door open and another saw him standing outside the car. 2RP 68; 6RP 69. Olson appeared confused and dazed. 2RP 71. When he started to step backward, one officer grabbed his arm to make sure he did not run, and escorted him out of traffic. 2RP 97. At this point, officers observed a needle and baggie in the pouch pocket of Olson's hoodie. 2RP 98. Olson was placed under arrest and read his Miranda rights. 2RP 75; 6RP 43.

Olson admitted to smoking heroin an hour before the incident, but told police he was not driving. 6RP 43-44, 46, 81. Officers did not see anyone else driving or get out of the truck. 6RP 79, 8. However, Olson explained that a friend was driving and he was in the passenger seat. 6RP 44. He said they were

following another friend who was traveling in front of them. 6RP 44. When the front car suddenly swerved, the driver of Olson's vehicle reacted, lost control, and crashed. 6RP 44. At the bottom of the hill, the first car stopped. 6RP 44. The driver of the truck got out, jumped in the first car with his friend, and left. 6RP 44. Olson said he was waiting for the driver to return. 6RP 82. Police did not follow-up on this. 6RP 52-53, 83.

3. <u>Facts Relating To The Unpreserved Evidence</u>

The incident occurred on January 22, 2014, and charges were filed one week later. On January 30, 2014, Olson's counsel filed a notice of appearance and discovery request that specifically asked for all "audio recordings... that relate to the circumstances surrounding the arrest." Supp. CP __ (sub no. 3, Notice of Appearance, 1/30/14) at p. 5. This included a request for 911 recordings. Id.; CP 48. The State never obtained these recordings, and the tapes were destroyed by the BPD after 90 days as per the standard protocol of NORCOM (the company BPD contracts with to record and manage 911 recordings). 2RP 23, 26; CP 48.

Olson moved to have the case dismissed, arguing that he was denied due process and prejudiced by government mismanagement of his case. Defense counsel explained that the

CAD report indicated there could have been as many as seven different 911 callers, three of whom would testify for the State, and others whose identity was somewhat murky from the limited information on the CAD report. Defense counsel stated that it was crucial to have the spontaneous witness statements to determine what the witnesses were seeing at the moment and to expose contradictions in their accounts. Defense counsel indicated the recordings were a vital defense tool for effective cross-examination. Moreover, the CAD report indicated that at least one caller had observed that multiple cars were involved. Defense Counsel explained this was potentially significant defense evidence because it supported Olson's statement that another car was involved and ended up taking the actual driver away. CP 47-54; 2RP 23-29, 32-33.

The State argued that the defense had comparable evidence through the CAD log and live witness testimony. 2RP 31-32. Defense counsel countered that these were inadequate substitutes for the contemporaneous and detailed observations of those watching the events unfold. 2RP 27, 32. The State also argued there was no bad faith because the State never had the 911 recordings and the tapes were merely destroyed per standard

protocol. 2RP 31-32.

The trial court denied the motion to dismiss, finding the 911 calls were potentially useful for impeachment purposes but were not destroyed in bad faith. 2RP 34.

C. ARGUMENT

I. OLSON'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS WAS VIOLATED WHEN THE GOVERNMENT DESTROYED 911 RECORDINGS OF EYE-WITNESS ACCOUNTS.

"Under both the state and federal constitutions, due process in criminal prosecutions requires fundamental fairness and a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense." State v. Burden, 104 Wn. App. 507, 511, 17 P.3d 1211, 1214 (2001). Due process imposes certain duties on law enforcement and investigatory agencies to insure that every criminal trial is a "search for truth, not an adversary game." State v. Wright, 87 Wn.2d 783, 786, 557 P.2d 1, 4 (1976) (quoting United States v. Perry, 471 F.2d 1057, 1063 (D.C.Cir.1972). This includes a responsibility to preserve material evidence. CrR 4.7.

To comport with due process, the prosecution must disclose and preserve material exculpatory evidence. <u>State v. Wittenbarger</u>, 124 Wn.2d 467, 474–75, 880 P.2d 517 (1994). The State's failure

to preserve such evidence requires dismissal of criminal charges.

<u>State v. Groth</u>, 163 Wn. App. 548, 557, 261 P.3d 183(2011).

Where the government fails to preserve evidence whose exculpatory value is indeterminate and only "potentially useful" to a defendant, failure to preserve the evidence constitutes a due process violation if the defendant demonstrates bad faith on the part of the government. <u>Burden</u>, 104 Wn. App. at 512. A showing of bad faith turns on whether the government knew of the potential value of the evidence when it failed to preserve it and thus allowed its destruction. <u>Groth</u>, 163. at 558.

Here, the 911 calls were potentially useful to the defense. First, as the trial court recognized, the 911 tapes had impeachment value (2RP 34), permitting Olson to challenge the testimony of eyewitnesses that might be inconsistent with their contemporaneous impressions as recorded on the 911 tapes.

Second, the 911 recordings had the potential of revealing driver distraction. Even if a caller was distracted for merely 30 seconds, this would have supported the defense's theory that in the chaos of the event, and while witnesses were navigating traffic or attending to their children, the driver of the truck quickly left the scene in a different car. 7RP 51-65. Without the recordings,

however, it was impossible for the defense to be able to effectively examine the eye-witnesses as to the distractibility of surrounding events.

Third, the fact that one of the witnesses reported that multiple vehicles were involved was particularly significant because it supported Olson's story that another car was involved. Hence, the recordings were potentially useful. Without the recordings, however the defense could not determine which witness observed the multiple cars or what exactly was said at the moment the witness was reporting the involvement of other vehicles.

The facts surrounding Olson's arrest put the prosecutor on notice as to the potential usefulness of this evidence to the defense. Given the defendant's statements to police that he was not the driver and there was another car involved in the incident, it was obvious that the 911 recordings would be potentially useful to the defense, especially where the CAD indicated that one of the witnesses had seen multiple cars involved. This was underscored when, two weeks after the incident, the defense made its discovery request that included the 911 recordings. This request alerted the State as to the potential usefulness of the 911 records nearly two and half months before they were destroyed.

Bad faith existed when the State ignored the defense's request for the 911 recordings and let the 90-day retention period The government was in a unique position to know of run. NORCOM's purge policy and the need to quickly preserve this evidence. This is because the "Participant Records Request Form" which can only be accessed by a participating agency – expressly states: "NORCOM's 911 ... recordings are automatically purged after 90 days. If you need the tapes held for this incident until further notice. check the box." See, http://www.norcom.org/docs/misc/PDR%20form.pdf.2 Certainly, the State and BPD are aware of this policy as the use of 911 recordings is commonplace in criminal prosecutions.

Given that the prosecutor had ample notice the 911 tapes were material and useful to Olson's defense and given the government's unique awareness that there was a 90-day automatic purge policy in place if it did not take affirmative steps to preserve the evidence, the failure to preserve this evidence amounts to an act of bad faith. As such, this Court should find Olson's due

² By contrast, NORCOM's "Public Records Request Form," which is used by those who are not "participants", does not include a statement warning about the purge policy. <u>See</u>, http://www.norcom.org/docs/misc/PDR%20form.pdf

process rights were violated, reverse the conviction, and dismiss the charges.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DID NOT DISMISS THE CASE DUE TO GOVERNMENT MISMANAGMENT.

CrR 8.3(b) authorizes a court to "dismiss any criminal prosecution due to arbitrary action or governmental misconduct when there has been prejudice to the rights of the accused which materially affect the accused's rights to a fair trial." Dismissal is justified when the following factors exist: (1) arbitrary action or governmental misconduct and (2) prejudice affecting the defendant's right to a fair trial. <u>State v. Michielli</u>, 132 Wn.2d 229, 239, 937 P.2d 587 (1997). Governmental misconduct can be something as basic as simple mismanagement. Id. at 239.

The record establishes the prosecutor mismanaged Olson's case by not preserving the 911 recordings after the defendant's discovery request was made. The prosecutor told the trial court that the State could not have acted in bad faith because it never possessed the 911 tapes. 2RP 31-32. However, that is precisely the point. The State mismanaged the discovery process such that neither it nor the defense would ever have the recordings in hand when preparing for and trying this case.

The State's mismanagement prejudiced Olson's constitutional right to present a complete defense to the charges. Sixth Amendment; Washington Const. art. I, § 22. As explained above, the 911 tapes were material to Olson's defense and potentially useful for impeachment purposes. The only reason they were not available was because the prosecutor did not act to preserve the evidence.

The State cannot hide behind the excuse that the reason it did not have the 911 tapes was because NORCOM has an automatic purge policy. The BPD contracts with NORCOM and thus adopts this purge policy as its own. This is a per se policy that functions to destroy all unpreserved evidence, regardless of whether it is material to a person's defense or whether there has been a discovery request. The State has a responsibility to understand this policy and protect requested recordings from being destroyed. CrR 4.7. Here, it the prosecutor had a duty to act promptly to preserve this evidence so that Olson could use it to present a complete defense. The State's failure to do so constituted government misconduct that prejudiced Olson's right to present a complete defense. As such, the trial court erred when it did not dismiss the charges under CrR 8.3(b).

III. RCW 43.43.7541 AND RCW 7.68.035 ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS APPLIED TO DEFENDANTS WHO DO NOT HAVE THE ABILITY, OR LIKELY FUTURE ABILITY, TO PAY LFOS.

RCW 9.94A.760 permits the trial court to impose costs "authorized by law" when sentencing an offender for a felony. RCW 43.43.7541 authorizes the collection of a \$100 DNA-collection fee. RCW 7.68.035 provides that a \$500 VPA "shall be imposed" upon anyone who has been found guilty in a Washington Superior court. However, these statutes violate substantive due process when applied to defendants, like Olson, who are not shown to have the ability or likely future ability to pay the fine. Hence, this Court should find trial court erred in imposing those fees without first determining Olson's ability to pay.³

Both the Washington and United States Constitutions mandate that no person may be deprived of life, liberty, or property without due process of law. U.S. Const. amends. V, XIV, § 1; Wash. Const. art. I, § 3. "The due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment confers both procedural and substantive protections." Amunrud v. Bd. of Appeals, 158 Wn.2d 208, 216, 143 P.3d 571

³ The record here contains significant evidence showing Mr. Olson was homeless, indigent, and would likely remain so given his employment and criminal history. CP 239-253; 8RP 11-20

(2006) (citation omitted).

"Substantive due process protects against arbitrary and capricious government action even when the decision to take action is pursuant to constitutionally adequate procedures." <u>Id.</u> at 218–19. It requires that "deprivations of life, liberty, or property be substantively reasonable;" in other words, such deprivations are constitutionally infirm if not "supported by some legitimate justification." <u>Nielsen v. Washington State Dep't of Licensing</u>, 177 Wn. App. 45, 52-53, 309 P.3d 1221, 1225 (2013) (citing Russell W. Galloway, Jr., <u>Basic Substantive Due Process Analysis</u>, 26 U.S.F. L.Rev. 625, 625–26 (1992)).

The level of review applied to a substantive due process challenge depends on the nature of the right affected. <u>Johnson v. Washington Dep't of Fish & Wildlife</u>, 175 Wn. App. 765, 775, 305 P.3d 1130, 1135 (2013). Where a fundamental right is not at issue, as is the case here, the rational basis standard applies. <u>Nielsen</u>, 177 Wn. App. at 53-54.

To survive rational basis scrutiny, the State must show its regulation is rationally related to a legitimate state interest. <u>Id.</u>
Although the burden on the State is lighter under this standard, the standard is not meaningless. Indeed, the United States Supreme

Court has cautioned the rational basis test "is not a toothless one." Mathews v. DeCastro, 429 U.S. 181, 185, 97 S.Ct. 431, 50 L.Ed.2d 389 (1976). As the Washington Supreme Court has explained, "the court's role is to assure that even under this deferential standard of review the challenged legislation is constitutional." DeYoung v. Providence Med. Ctr., 136 Wn.2d 136, 144, 960 P.2d 919 (1998) (determining the statute at issue did not survive rational basis scrutiny); Nielsen, 177 Wn. App. at 61 (same). Statutes that do not rationally relate to a legitimate State interest must be struck down as unconstitutional under the substantive due process clause. Id.

Turning first to RCW 43.43.7541, the statute mandates all felony defendants pay the DNA-collection fee. This ostensibly serves the State's interest to fund the collection, analysis, and retention of a convicted offender's DNA profile in order to help facilitate future criminal identifications. RCW 43.43.752-7541. This is a legitimate interest. However, the imposition of this mandatory fee upon defendants who cannot pay the fee does not rationally serve that interest.

As for RCW 7.68.035, it mandates that all convicted defendants pay a \$500 VPA. This ostensibly serves the State's interest in funding "comprehensive programs to encourage and

facilitate testimony by the victims of crimes and witnesses to crimes." RCW 7.68.035(4). Again, while this may be a legitimate interest, there is nothing reasonable about requiring sentencing courts to impose the VPA upon defendants regardless of whether they have the ability – or likely future ability – to pay.

Imposing these fees does not further the State's interest in funding DNA collection or victim-focused programs. For as the Washington Supreme Court recently emphasized, "the state cannot collect money from defendants who cannot pay." <u>Blazina</u>, 344 P.3d at 684. Hence, there is no legitimate economic incentive served in imposing these LFOs.

Likewise, the State's interest in enhancing offender accountability is also not served by requiring a defendant to pay mandatory LFOs when he does not have the ability to do so. In order to foster accountability, a sentencing condition must be something that is achievable in the first place. If it is not, the condition actually undermines efforts to hold a defendant answerable.

The Supreme Court also recognized that the State's interest in deterring crime via enforced LFOs is actually undermined when LFOs are imposed on people who do not have the ability to pay. <u>Id</u>.

This is because imposing LFOs upon a person who does not have the ability to pay actually "increase[s] the chances of recidivism." Id. at 836-37 (citing relevant studies and reports).

Likewise, the State's interest in uniform sentencing is not served by imposing mandatory LFOs on those who do not have the ability to pay. This is because defendants who cannot pay are subject to an undeterminable length of involvement with the criminal justice system and often end up paying considerably more than the original LFOs imposed (due to interest and collection fees), and in turn, considerably more than their wealthier counterparts. <u>Id</u>. at 836-37.

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