FILED
January 6, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 72965-9-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

THOMAS OLSON,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY THE HONORABLE LAURA GENE MIDDAUGH

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

> JENNIFER P. JOSEPH Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

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

destroyed." 488 U.S. at 56 n.*. In other words, the defendant must show the failure to preserve evidence "was improperly motivated." Wittenbarger, 124 Wn.2d at 478; State v. Groth, 163 Wn. App. 548, 559, 261 P.3d 183 (2011). Olson makes no such showing.

The record indicates that the Bellevue Police Department contracts with NORCOM, a private company, to record and manage 911 recordings. 2RP 23, 26. NORCOM's policy is to record over such recordings after 90 days. 2RP 23, 26.

Shortly after the State filed charges against Olson in superior court, his attorney filed a standard notice of appearance and a demand for discovery of 911 recordings, among other things.

CP 277-82. At no point did the prosecuting attorney's office have possession of the 911 recordings, and they were never provided to defense. 3RP 32. Pursuant to its policy, NORCOM recorded over or destroyed the recordings after 90 days. 3RP 32.

In the trial court, Olson identified the State's acquiescence to NORCOM's 90-day retention policy as the bad faith that justified dismissal. 3RP 28-29. Olson did not argue that the police or prosecutor in this case acted with improper motivation in failing to retain the recordings; rather, "it's destruction of evidence for no

reason, which is ... really the substance of our bad faith [argument]." 3RP 29. The trial court rejected the argument:

I don't find that the 911 calls are materially exculpatory. I think, at the most, that they are potentially useful and I don't think that they were destroyed in bad faith. The 911 calls, at the most, could have – and I didn't – I couldn't figure out how you came up with seven people, but it appeared that the people were identified. I think that the most that these 911 calls would have done is provide impeachment material, maybe, with these people that testified at trial. So – and I don't find they're destroyed in bad faith. ... So I'm going to deny the motion to dismiss.

2RP 34.

Olson has changed his argument on appeal. He now contends that the State's bad faith was not in acquiescing to NORCOM's 90-day retention policy, but the failure to act on the defense request for the 911 recordings. BOA at 10. But without any evidence of improper motivation, the most that can be said is that the State negligently failed to preserve evidence that had no apparent exculpatory value. As a matter of law, negligent destruction of potentially useful evidence does not rise to the level of bad faith that would constitute a due process violation under Youngblood and Wittenbarger. Groth, 163 Wn. App. at 559.

Even if Olson could establish bad faith destruction of the 911 calls, the due process violation would be subject to harmless error analysis. See State v. Luvene, 127 Wn.2d 690, 704, 903 P.2d 960 (1995) (State's failure to disclose exculpatory information was harmless when it resulted in no prejudice to defendant). In this case, any error the State made in failing to preserve the 911 calls was harmless.

At least four people called 911 and are listed in the CAD⁴ report associated with this incident: Marianne Jones, Clairissa Schaaf, Joel Lessing, and Caroline Williams. Supp. CP __ (Sub. No. 61) (State's Response to Defendant's CrR 8.3 Motion to Dismiss, Appendix: CAD Log). Each of these individuals provided his or her phone number, which was included in the CAD log. The State listed the first three callers as witnesses in the case, and the defense interviewed witnesses before trial. 5RP 61; 6RP 11. The three witnesses gave descriptions of the incident that were consistent with previous statements and corroborated by each other's testimony and that of the officers who responded to the scene. Nothing prevented the defense from calling the fourth

⁴ A computer-aided dispatch (CAD) report records all of the communication traffic involving 911 dispatch, the reporting party, and officers.

witness, Caroline Williams, to see whether her observations differed from those of Jones, Schaaf, and Lessing.

Further, Olson's argument that the 911 calls were critical to the defense is itself questionable. He argues that the material was important in order to demonstrate that the witnesses might have been so distracted that they simply failed to notice the other car and drivers that Olson claims were involved. But Olson highlighted the potential distractions during cross examination. For example, Olson's counsel elicited from Jones that she was traveling with her children when she witnessed the collisions and was worried about their safety and that of a nearby pedestrian. 5RP 51-54. Lessing testified on cross examination that he had to decide what to do while the truck was barreling towards him and that he was speaking with 911 at the same time he made contact with Olson. 6RP 5-7. In closing argument, Olson's counsel argued that the distractions faced by the State's witnesses during the collisions provided reasonable doubt. For example, with respect to Jones, defense counsel argued:

We also know that Ms. Jones had her children in her car, and she was understandably worried about their safety and her own safety. She's on the phone with 911. That alone was distracting and dividing her attention. She had to navigate that intersection, just

like any other driver, so she's had a lot of things going on. And don't forget, the State's own witness described driving as a divided attention task, so here you have a woman who's on the phone with 911, she has her kids in the car, she's navigating this intersection, and she's trying to observe what happened. Her attention was divided in many parts in this case.

7RP 57. Counsel further argued that all of the State's eyewitnesses "had a lot to do (inaudible) their own safety, the safety of their passengers, safety of other people around the scene, and they had to navigate this intersection and pay attention to all of that in those critical moments" and that these distractions meant that "these witnesses didn't have the ability to observe everything that went on[.]" 7RP 63. Thus, the unavailability of the 911 recordings did not preclude the defense from presenting its theory to the jury.

Further, the evidence against Olson was overwhelming.

Several eyewitnesses testified to watching the blue pickup truck ricochet down a hill, enter oncoming traffic, crash into and knock down a light post, and continue driving until the truck was too disabled to move. Not one witness corroborated Olson's claim that someone else was driving the truck and fled in another car.

Indeed, Lessing and Jones saw the entire incident and definitively

identified Olson as the truck's driver, and Lieutenant Young testified that Olson was still in the driver's seat when police arrived on the scene. In light of this evidence, it cannot reasonably be said that any error in failing to preserve the 911 recordings affected the jury's verdict.

Because there is no evidence that the State's failure to preserve the 911 recordings was improperly motivated, and because any error in allowing the evidence to be destroyed was plainly harmless given Olson's access to the 911 callers and the overwhelming evidence of his guilt, this Court should reject Olson's claim that a violation of due process entitles him to reversal and dismissal of charges.

2. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO DISMISS THE CASE.

In addition to his due process argument, Olson contends that the trial court erred when it did not dismiss the prosecution for government mismanagement under CrR 8.3(b). Because Olson demonstrates no prejudice from the failure to preserve 911 recordings, this Court should reject the claim.

Under CrR 8.3(b), the trial court may "in the furtherance of justice after notice and hearing, dismiss any criminal prosecution

due to arbitrary action or governmental misconduct when there has been prejudice to the rights of the accused which materially affect the accused's right to a fair trial." CrR 8.3(b). Dismissal under CrR 8.3(b) presents "an extraordinary remedy to which the court should resort only in truly egregious cases of mismanagement or misconduct." State v. Wilson, 149 Wn.2d 1, 9, 65 P.3d 657 (2003). Dismissal is not warranted if the defendant has not been prejudiced by governmental misconduct. State v. Marks, 114 Wn.2d 724, 730, 790 P.2d 138 (1990). "Dismissal is also inappropriate when there is credible and admissible evidence obtained against the defendant that is untainted by the governmental misconduct." Id. at 731.

A trial court's denial of dismissal under CrR 8.3(b) is reviewed for abuse of discretion. State v. Oppelt, 172 Wn.2d 285, 297, 257 P.3d 653 (2011). Even where a defendant demonstrates some actual prejudice, "the judge may in her discretion refuse to dismiss under CrR 8.3(b) if the actual prejudice is slight and the misconduct is not too egregious." Id. at 297-98.

As explained above, there was no prejudice from the failure to preserve the 911 recordings. While he did not have recordings of the 911 calls, Olson had access to the 911 callers themselves, and to the CAD log, which conveyed the gist of their reports. Olson

was able to interview and cross examine these witnesses, and nothing prevented him from calling the fourth 911 caller if he believed that her testimony would support his version of events or cast doubt on the testimony of other witnesses.

The trial judge determined that Olson could receive a fair trial in the absence of the 911 recordings. Olson has not shown that conclusion to be untenable or unreasonable. This Court should affirm.

3. OLSON'S CHALLENGES TO MANDATORY LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS SHOULD BE REJECTED.

When any defendant is convicted of a felony, the trial court is required by law to impose a \$100 DNA fee and a \$500 Victim

Penalty Assessment (VPA). RCW 43.43.7541; RCW 7.68.035.

The trial court complied with these statutory requirements by imposing these mandatory legal financial obligations (LFOs) in Olson's judgment and sentence, and Olson did not object. For the first time on appeal, Olson contends that the statutes mandating imposition of the VPA and the DNA fee are unconstitutional as applied to indigent defendants, and that the trial court failed to comply with RCW 10.01.160(3) by imposing the LFOs without consideration of his ability to pay. Because Olson's claims are both

unpreserved and unripe for review, this Court should decline to consider them. If this Court does reach the merits, it should reject Olson's claims because he fails to establish that the statutes are unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt.

a. The Court Should Not Reach The Merits Of The Claim Because It Is Not Ripe For Review.

Assuming that Olson has standing to bring this constitutional challenge,⁵ this Court should refuse to reach the merits because the issue is not ripe for review. Generally, "challenges to orders establishing legal financial sentencing conditions that do not limit a defendant's liberty are not ripe for review until the State attempts to

⁵ Generally, a person may challenge the constitutionality of a statute only if he is harmed by the provisions claimed to be unconstitutional. State v. Cates, 183 Wn.2d 531, 540, 354 P.3d 832 (2015). In the context of due process challenges based on legal financial obligations assessed against indigent individuals, a person must demonstrate "constitutional indigence" based on "the totality of the defendant's financial circumstances" to establish standing. State v. Johnson, 179 Wn.2d 534, 553, 555, 315 P.3d 1090 (2014). Here, Olson supports his claim of indigency by citing sentencing information indicating that he was homeless and indigent at the time of the offense. However, Olson also stated at sentencing that he has been a "very productive member of society," has "been working my whole adult life" and has "been able to support myself." 8RP 20. His financial trouble appears to be related to his serious heroin addiction, treatment of which the trial court facilitated by granting an appeal bond on condition that he remain in a year-long inpatient treatment program of his own choice. 8RP 28; Supp. CP __ (Sub. No. 107). Presumably, after treatment and an extended period of sobriety, Olson will again be able to support himself. In any event, since the trial record does not permit review the totality of Olson's financial circumstances, including whether Olson owns property, he has not established constitutional indigence. See Johnson, 179 Wn.2d at 553-54 ("Ownership of, or equity in, property indicates that a defendant is not constitutionally indigent"). Failure of the record to disclose such information demonstrates the wisdom of refusing to entertain his claim for the first time on appeal.

curtail a defendant's liberty by enforcing them." State v. Lundy, 176 Wn. App. 96, 108, 308 P.3d 755 (2013). It is only when the State attempts to collect or impose punishment against an indigent person for failure to pay that constitutional principles are implicated. State v. Curry, 118 Wn.2d 911, 917, 829 P.2d 166 (1992).

Our supreme court adhered to this position in <u>State v. Blank</u>, 131 Wn.2d 230, 930 P.2d 1213 (1997), when it held that an inquiry into defendant's ability to pay is not constitutionally required before imposing a repayment obligation in a judgment and sentence, as long as the court must determine whether the defendant is able to pay before sanctions are sought for nonpayment. <u>Id.</u> at 239-42. The point of enforced collection or sanctions for nonpayment is the appropriate time to discern the individual's ability to pay because before that point, "it is nearly impossible to predict ability to pay[.]" <u>Id.</u> at 242. "If at that time defendant is unable to pay through no fault of his own, ... constitutional principles are implicated." <u>Id.</u> at 242.

Where nothing in the record reflects that the State has attempted to collect the VPA or the DNA fee, any challenge to the order requiring payment on hardship grounds is not yet ripe for review. Lundy, 176 Wn. App. at 109. That is so in this case.

Because the issue is unripe, this Court should decline to reach its merits.

b. The Alleged Errors Are Not Manifest Constitutional Errors And Should Not Be Reviewed Under RAP 2.5.

Olson did not object to the imposition of the VPA or the DNA fee at sentencing. Accordingly, RAP 2.5(a) bars consideration of his claims.

A claim of error may be raised for the first time on appeal only if it is a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a)(3); State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). Not every constitutional error falls within this exception; the defendant must show that the error occurred and that it caused actual prejudice to the defendant's rights. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d at 333. If the facts necessary to adjudicate the issue are not in the record, the error is not manifest. State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 99, 217 P.3d 756 (2009).

Here, Olson's constitutional claims depend on his present and future inability to pay the mandatory VPA and the DNA fee.

But although he established statutory indigence at the time of sentencing, Olson's failure to object to imposition of the DNA fee deprived the trial court of the opportunity to make a record as to his

financial resources and likely future ability to pay. Since there are no facts in the record to adjudicate whether Olson is constitutionally indigent, any error cannot be manifest within the meaning of RAP 2.5(a).

In <u>State v. Blazina</u>, our supreme court recognized that "[a] defendant who makes no objection to the imposition of discretionary LFOs at sentencing is not automatically entitled to review." 182 Wn.2d 827, 832, 344 P.3d 680 (2015). Thus, where defendants fail to object to the LFOs at sentencing, it is appropriate for appellate courts to decline review. <u>Id.</u> at 834. <u>See also State v. Clark</u>, No. 32928-3-III, 2015 WL 7354717 (November 19, 2015) (recognizing that "the LFO issue is not one that can be presented for the first time on appeal because this aspect of sentencing is not one that demands uniformity," and exercising discretion not to consider challenge to a fine for the first time on appeal). Because Olson failed to raise the issue below, precluding development of an adequate record, this Court should decline review.

c. The Victim Penalty Assessment And The DNA Fee Statute Do Not Violate Due Process.

Even if this Court exercises its discretion to review the unpreserved claim, it should reject Olson's constitutional challenges to RCW 43.43.7541 and RCW 7.68.035. A statute is presumed constitutional, and the party challenging the legislation bears the burden of proving the legislation is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt. State ex rel. Peninsula Neighborhood Ass'n v. Dep't of Transp., 142 Wn.2d 328, 335, 12 P.3d 134 (2000). If at all possible, courts should construe statutes to be constitutional. State v. Farmer, 116 Wn.2d 414, 419-20, 805 P.2d 200 (1991). Olson cannot meet this heavy burden; his claim should be rejected.

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